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I. Identification and Problem Statement

A. What is the object(s) you collected or the context(s) you observed? Describe by giving information on the artifact as a material text or describing the activities or contexts of the event/cultural scene. Include photographic or audio documentation if available. 
B. What problem (issue or question) does this example raise (e.g., ethnic relations, family bonding, community, identity)? Why is this significant historically, socially, geographically, or culturally? 
Intrigued by the vernacular Gothic-Revival style of the exterior of B’nai Jacob Synagogue in Middletown, Dauphin County, Pennsylvania (figure 1), I sought to find other examples of Jewish-American houses of worship built in the Gothic manner. Through internet searches and entries in Marilyn J. Chiat’s American Religious Architecture:  Sacred Places for Every Community (1997), I identified six synagogues built in approximately the same period as B’nai Jacob and bearing—as I was seeking—a distinct similarity to the Middletown synagogue’s vernacular Gothic-Revival architecture. During the course of my research, I discovered that—to a large extent—these synagogues also shared proportions, scale, type of locale and, in many but not all cases, their founders hailed from roughly the same part of Europe as those who established B’nai Jacob. These sister synagogues are found in the north (Beth Israel Synagogue in Stevens Point, Wisconsin), south (United Hebrews of Ocala in Ocala, Florida), far northeast (Ahavath Gerim Synagogue in Burlington, Vermont), near-west (B’nai Abraham Synagogue in Brenham, Texas), and south-central United States (Temple Adas Israel in Brownsville, Tennessee). The northernmost and westernmost example—Beth Israel Synagogue in Edenbridge, Saskatchewan, Canada—is located north of the border between North Dakota and Montana (figure 2). 
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Figure 1: Historic B’nai Jacob Synagogue, Middletown, Pennsylvania. Photo: B’nai Jacob

Gothic architecture was first developed in medieval Europe, where spectacular Catholic cathedrals built in the style continue to produce feelings of awe, wonder, and—in some cases—a sense of transcendence in worshipers and visitors. While examples of Gothic ecclesiastical architecture date to late 
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Figure 2: Locations of the synagogues in this study. Design: Cathy M. Socci
seventeenth-century America (Saint Luke’s Church in Smithfield, Virginia), the Gothic Revival was promulgated primarily by English Protestants in the nineteenth century and soon spread to the United States. The style’s primary proponents for use in the domestic realm were the American landscape gardener and architectural designer Andrew Jackson Downing (1815–1852) and architect Alexander Jackson Davis (1803–1892). Downing and Davis’s book Cottage Residences (1842) and Downing’s The Architecture of Country Houses (1850) exerted profound influence on the design and conceptualizing of the American home. Most important to this study is Richard Upjohn (1802–1878), a deeply religious architect who immigrated from England to the United States in 1829. A designer of landmark, high-style, masonry Gothic-Revival churches for Episcopalian congregations, Upjohn adapted—and published in his book, Rural Architecture (1852)—the style for the design and construction of churches, parsonages, schools, and cottages. The Gothic Revival reached a dominating popularity in American cities, especially in the sphere of ecclesiastical architecture, in the 1840s (Stanton 3) and continuing throughout the nineteenth century. Through Upjohn’s efforts, in particular, masonry Gothic Revival and wood “Carpenter Gothic” became, in effect, the standard style for American churches. 
Carpenter Gothic is a distinctly American expression of the Gothic Revival. With the country’s prevailing abundance of trees and corresponding availability of lumber—and the invention of mechanized saws and other woodworking implements—Carpenter Gothic developed quickly and became a ubiquitous presence on the American landscape, particularly in America’s small towns and rural areas. Carpenter Gothic, which will be referred to as “vernacular Gothic-Revival architecture” in this report (and was referred to as “Rural Gothic” by Downing), is distinguished by pointed windows—frequently further elaborated with tracery and diamond-shaped, polychromatic panes—and the elaborate, scrollwork ornamentation referred to in the colloquial as “gingerbread.” 
The problem presented by B’nai Jacob, its six sister synagogues discussed and illustrated in this paper, and others that are either no longer extant or that have not been documented in books or online, is their use of the Gothic-Revival style, which was developed for Christian ecclesiastical structures, manifests Christian ideals—particularly the emphasis on traditional, Catholic-derived Anglican ritual in addition to spirituality and faith that transcend the rationality of the “neoclassical” thought also present in theology of the time (see Phoebe B. Stanton’s The Gothic Revival and American Church Architecture: An Episode in Taste, 1840–1856, pp. 3–90, for a full discussion of the origins of the Gothic Revival on both sides of the Atlantic). 
During the great period of synagogue building beginning in the mid-nineteenth century, the Moorish style—followed by Romanesque and Byzantine approaches through the 1920s—were employed by Jewish congregations because they were viewed as non-Christian (Raphael 71-72). Moorish and Byzantine styles were, in addition, associated with the “Eastern” and “Oriental,” and, thus, were considered appropriate for an ethnoreligious group with roots on the eastern edge of the Mediterranean Sea. Earlier American synagogues were built in the prevailing Georgian style; an exception was the second purpose-built synagogue designed for Philadelphia’s Congregation Mikveh Israel (hope of Israel) in 1825, which was Egyptian Revival in mode. The Neoclassical and Beaux Arts styles joined—albeit it to a much lesser degree—the Moorish, Romanesque, and Byzantine among the synagogues built in the late-nineteenth century and early-twentieth century. While Gothic elements often appeared in synagogues that reflected the Victorian taste for eclecticism, the only purpose-built, fully developed, masonry, high-style Gothic-Revival synagogue in the United States is Mickve Israel in Savannah, Georgia, which was completed in 1878 and remains in use (figure 3).  
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Figure 3: Mickve Israel Temple, Savannah, Georgia

Particularly surprising is the fact—as demonstrated in the examples cited in this paper—that many American vernacular Gothic-Revival synagogues were built by immigrant Jews of Eastern European origin, a demographic that—while eager to assimilate to American life—typically held fast to religious tradition in matters of home and synagogue. Investigating the seeming disparity between the traditionally Christian architectural mode adopted for the design of the unequivocally Jewish synagogues examined in this study provides insight to the balancing of assimilation and cultural and religious continuity among the Jewish residents of smaller American towns, and speaks to the nature of immigration patterns and community among newly minted, inland Americans of (primarily) Eastern-European Jewish origin in the decades surrounding the turn of the twentieth century.
Middletown, Pennsylvania’s B’nai Jacob (sons of Jacob) is the Gothic-Revival synagogue best known to me. It is very near my hometown of Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, and closer still to site of my doctoral studies, the Pennsylvania State University at Harrisburg, which is located in Middletown. I am a direct descendant of one of its founders, David Singer (1867–1929), and a collateral descendant of another founder, Philip Singer. It is the vernacular Gothic-Revival architecture of the synagogue’s exterior that first piqued my interest some twenty years ago. Since then, I have had the opportunity explore and survey B’nai Jacob, attend a worship service there, and search its archives. Therefore, I will discuss B’nai Jacob first and refer back to it as a touchstone or benchmark of the form as I proceed, chronologically, through the other examples.
A. B’nai Jacob Synagogue, Middletown, Dauphin County, Pennsylvania. Constructed: 1906
Historic B’nai Jacob Synagogue is a small synagogue built in 1906 by the correspondingly modest Jewish community of Middletown, Pennsylvania. Located at the intersection of Nissley and Water streets, its footprint is thirty-by-forty feet; the thirty-foot gable-end faces the street. The synagogue was designed and constructed by its charter members—twenty men and their families—although there is some indication that assistance was received from professional or semi-professional members of the building trades from outside the congregation (Historic B’nai Jacob Synagogue: One Hundred Year Anniversary Celebration 57). B’nai Jacob is a vernacular Gothic-Revival structure clad in red brick; the brick was secured from a brickyard in the neighboring town of Royalton. At least one of the founders of B’nai Jacob worked at the Royalton brickyard at the time of B’nai Jacob’s construction.

Its founders were, overwhelmingly, Lithuanian Jewish immigrants who settled in Middletown as early as ca. 1890 (Zuckerman). Oral lore notes that the founders were not only all, or nearly all, Lithuanian, but were from small, rural villages in the vicinity of the city of Panevezys in north-central Lithuania. Records available through JewishGen (www.jewishgen.org), a Jewish genealogy website, confirm this assertion. An addendum to the synagogue’s National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) Inventory—Nomination Form (the form was prepared by Jeb Stuart in 1985; B’nai Jacob was granted historic status that same year), states that B’nai Jacob’s members were, primarily, from the village of Pusalotas in north-central Lithuania (Stuart 6).

B’nai Jacob’s Gothic-Revival exterior shelters a distinctly Eastern European Orthodox Jewish interior (figure 4). 
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Figure 4: Historic Congregation B’nai Jacob. Interior view looking towrd bimah and Holy Ark. 
Photo: B’nai Jacob

Its bimah, a raised platform from which the Torah is read, is placed in the center of the room. The aron ha’kodesh, or “Holy Ark,” in which the Torah scroll is stored and which serves as the focal point for the sanctuary, graces the sanctuary’s eastern wall, directing the congregation’s prayers toward Jerusalem. Finally, B’nai Jacob’s interior composition reflects the traditional Orthodox Jewish separation of the sexes while at worship, with the sanctuary floor designated for men and a balcony for women. 
A relatively imposing entry stoop, with two sets of stairs running parallel to the building, was added in 1921. A modest, metal Star of David was placed atop the synagogue’s street-facing gable-end at a later date. With the exception of the installation of a modern HVAC system and other infrastructure improvements, and the conversion of the basement from a combined mikveh (ritual bath) and schoolroom into a multi-purpose “recreation room,” B’nai Jacob remains as it was originally built.

B’nai Jacob’s exterior is red-painted brick. As Wilbur Zelinsky observed, “Within the [Pennsylvania] towns, an appreciable percentage of the brick structures are painted periodically, presumably to help protect the surface, a rather uncommon practice outside this study area. Occasionally, white, yellow, or other paints are applied, but in most instances a rather bright brick-red pigment is used, thus reinforcing the general rufosity of the typical Pennsylvania Town” (133).

The synagogue’s pointed Gothic-Revival windows contain polychromatic leaded-glass panels. An oculus window, divided into eight lights, rests below the roofline at the gable end. B’nai Jacob’s interior walls are plaster with wood wainscoting. All of its furnishings, both loose and built-in, are wood. Among these furnishings and features are Classical-Revival pillars that demarcate the temple-like entablature around the Holy Ark and support the cornice, upon which rests a sculptural group depicting the twin tablets of the Decalogue flanked by rampant lions—a traditional motif in Eastern-European synagogues. B’nai Jacob’s wood pews were salvaged from a previous iteration of the Dauphin County courthouse in nearby Harrisburg.

The use of brick is particularly refined at B’nai Jacob. This is seen in the corbelled capital-like elements at the bases of the gable, the corbelled eave, and the coffer panels that frame the windows and doorway. This emphasis on graceful construction is seen within the synagogue, as well—the sanctuary’s ceiling is coved rather than meeting its supporting walls at the typical right angles. 
Distinguishing B’nai Jacob is the composition of its Holy Ark. In most synagogues, the Holy Ark is a cabinet that projects from the wall. At B’nai Jacob, the section of the Holy Ark that holds the Torah scrolls is a niche recessed into the wall (resulting in a corresponding projection on the building’s rear façade). The raised platform, columns, cornice, and sculptural decoration (the Decalogue and rampant lions) give B’nai Jacob’s unusual Holy Ark the appearance of a more typical example of the form (figure 5). It is likely that this unique composition was a means to save precious space in the small sanctuary.
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Figure 5: B’nai Jacob Synagogue. View of Holy Ark. Photo: Matthew F. Singer

The only Jewish signifier on the synagogue’s exterior that has been part of the building since its dedication is the cornerstone, which bears the name of the synagogue (in English) and the year of its completion according to the Jewish and standard calendars (figure 6). The small Star of David atop the synagogue’s gable was, as noted before, a later addition.
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Figure 6: B’nai Jacob Synagogue. Cornerstone. Photo: Matthew F. Singer

Temple Adas Israel, Brownsville, Haywood County, Tennessee

Constructed: ca. 1881–1882
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Temple Adas Israel is located at the intersection of Washington and College streets in Brownsville, Tennessee (figure 7). Adas Israel was founded in 1867 by Joe and Sol Sternberger, brothers who immigrated to the United States from Germany. Established as an Orthodox congregation that met in private homes, by 1882 Adas Israel was a Reform congregation with a membership of some twenty-five families. Reflecting this growth, the congregation built a 200-seat wooden synagogue in the Gothic Revival style. Most atypically for a Jewish house of worship, Temple Adas Israel featured a small steeple. 
A suite of thirteen stained-glass windows—pointed in the Gothic style and figural in their imagery—was installed in 1910.  The steeple was removed when the temple was renovated in the 1920s. This renovation included replacing the wood siding with brick and the installation of new pews and an organ, reflecting the temple’s adoption of the Reform Jewish mode of worship. 

Adas Israel differs from the other synagogues in this sample in that it is a Reform temple founded by German Jews. German-Jewish immigration to the United States began in earnest toward the end of the first third of the nineteenth century and peaked in the years following the failed democratic revolutions of 1848. German Jews were already established and assimilated Americans during the period from 1880 to 1920 when some 2,500,000 Eastern-European Jews—most fleeing violence, extremely limited economic and educational opportunity, forced conscription, and virulent, government-sponsored or abetted anti-Semitism—immigrated to the United States. 
Although an architect is not listed as the designer of Adas Israel, the building is in somewhat of a higher style than the others in this group, perhaps reflecting a settled and prospering membership base. Adas Israel’s most distinctive element is a projecting entry vestibule with exterior side-walls that slope outward from top to bottom. Typically associated with Egyptian Revival architecture, Adas Israel’s sloping walls were more likely intended to evoke, albeit subtly, the buttressing of Gothic cathedrals. The sloped rooflines of the entryway and main roof culminate in short horizontal projections. This echoing of shapes is visually reinforced by striking white masonry atop both gables, which contrasts with the otherwise brick-clad facade. Of note is the star above the pointed-arch doorway—it is an eight-pointed star rather than the six-pointed Star of David.
Temple Adas Israel was placed on the NRHP in 1979.  
United Hebrews of Ocala, Ocala, Marion County,  Florida

Constructed: 1888
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Figure 8: Former synagogue of the United Hebrews of Ocala/Temple B’nai Darom.
A distinguishing and distinctly “picturesque” feature of the former United Hebrews of Ocala temple is the gable-screen on the building’s front façade (figure 8). A pendant, projecting chords, and scrolled supporting brackets highlight the decorative quality of the screen, which forms a half-circle arch that is repeated in the rounded tops of the temple’s windows. The building is located at 729 N.E. Second Street in Tuscawilla Park, which was one of Ocala’s earliest suburbs and was designated an Historic District in 1988. Covering twenty acres, the Tuscawilla Park Historic District, per its NRHP nomination form, which was prepared by W. Carl Shiver, is: 

…composed of buildings reflecting a variety of uses, styles, materials, dating from two principal periods of historic development in the neighborhood. The district comprises mainly wood frame residences and includes a former synagogue, a former woman’s club, and a park. Its concentrated physical development began about 1880 with the plating of Caldwell’s Addition to the city of Ocala. Contributing buildings date from approximately 1877 to 1930 (Shiver 2).
Shiver goes on to argue that:

The “medievalism” of the old synagogue…derives not from the Gothic Revival but from the traditional “Stick” style, which bridges Gothic and Queen Anne. Also based on the English medieval building tradition, the Stick Style developed its own distinctive idiom. Its identifying features usually include steeply pitched gable roofs or cross gables with overhanging eaves and with decorative trusses [gable-screens] or cross gables with overhanging eaves and with decorative trusses and knee braces at the apex. The wall material may combine horizontal, vertical, and diagonal siding, and shingles. The “horseshoe” truss in the facade gable of the synagogue and the main entrance hood over the entrance with its support brackets and half-timber motif in its gable clearly establish this building’s stylistic heritage (Shiver 5–6).
In 1963, the United Hebrews of Ocala adopted the name Temple B’nai Darom (sons of the south). In 1976, the congregation moved to a new, larger, contemporary building. The former synagogue of the Unite Hebrews of Ocala is now the Ocala Bible Chapel. 
B’nai Abraham Synagogue, Brenham, Washington County, Texas

Constructed: 1893
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Figure 9: B’nai Abraham Synagogue, Brenham, Texas
B'nai Abraham (sons of Abraham) congregation was organized in 1885 by twenty charter members, although Jews began arriving in Brenham and its environs beginning in the 1860s. Fire destroyed the congregation’s first synagogue, which was built in 1892 at 302 North Park Street. Its replacement was completed in 1893 on the same site, with an architectural footprint of thirty-five by seventy feet (figure 9). A white clapboard building with pointed windows, B’nai Abraham looked like the region’s small, country Protestant churches. However, in Orthodox form, the synagogue’s interior features a central bimah placed at a remove from the Holy Ark on the building’s eastern wall. A side structure contains a mikveh. 

According to Dwayne Jones, who prepared the registration form for the NRHP in 1990:

The Synagogue B’nai Abraham is one of the only Gothic Revival properties in Brenham. The property exhibits restrained Gothic Revival influences with its lancet [pointed] windows and arched entry way. Its simple features make an excellent example of the influence being used in a vernacular property that stresses its function over style (Jones 4).
B’nai Abraham also features oculus windows at its gable ends. The side facades are articulated with four evenly spaced single windows. 

In a telephone interview conducted on June 20, 2011, Leon Toubin—a community and business leader who preserves B’nai Abraham—reported that the congregation’s founders were Eastern European Jews from Poland, Lithuania, Latvia, and other regions in the Pale of Settlement. It has been an Orthodox synagogue since its inception. The Jewish community in Brenham is now too small to support the synagogue. Currently, B’nai Abraham is used only for special occasions. 

Ahavath Gerim Synagogue, Burlington, Chittenden County, Vermont

Constructed: 1885/1902/1928
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Figure 10: Ahavath Gerim Synagogue, Burlington, Vermont
Ahavath Gerim was first built in 1885 as a wood-frame structure at the intersection of Archibald and Hyde streets in Burlington, Vermont. It was enlarged and clad in brick in 1902, and enlarged again and remodeled in 1928, when it achieved its present form. With an architectural footprint of thirty-five by sixty feet, Ahavath Gerim has a high gable and pointed windows and doors, all in keeping with the Gothic-Revival style (figure 10). 

Its front facade features a central door flanked by pointed windows. An oculus window with a muntin pattern in the shape of a Star of David is set beneath the gable peak—this is the most prominent Jewish signifier incorporated into the exterior designs of the synagogues in this study. Oculi windows are interspersed with the pointed windows on the sides of the synagogue. As noted by John R. Axtell, who drafted the nomination form for the NRHP in 1977 (Ahavath Gerim received historic designation that same year), the synagogue is “…a striking and well-preserved cultural document exhibiting a juxtaposition of Eastern European liturgical architecture with American vernacular construction” (Axtell 3). He continues:
Architecturally, the synagogue reveals both the inventiveness of its members, as well as the effects of relative isolation from the major urban centers of American culture…The exterior of the synagogue with its unique interpretation of the Gothic design vocabulary—oculi interspersed among pointed arches—functions both as a way of architecturally distinguishing the unique identity of the synagogue and as a practical way for lighting the women’s gallery (Axtell 3).
The women’s gallery is in the shape of a horseshoe running along the rear and sides of the sanctuary. A striking and highly unusual copper Holy Ark—constructed in 1928 by a metal-smith who was a member of the congregation—is centered on the north wall (as opposed to the traditional placement of the east wall). Neoclassical in style, the Holy Ark combines the traditional sculptural group of a Decalogue flanked by a pair of lions—in this case joined by the similarly traditional motifs of two hands making the sign of priestly blessing and a crown atop the Decalogue— with pineapple finials, symbols of welcome associated with American Georgian furniture (figure 11). Most unusually, the sanctuary has two bimahs, an earlier version in the center of the sanctuary and another in front of the ark. This reflects the evolution from Orthodox to Conservative Jewish worship modes (figure 12).
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Figure 11: Ahavath Gerim Synagogue. View of Holy Ark, which was constructed in copper.
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Figure 12: Ahavath Gerim Synagogue. View of the sanctuary showing the central bimah associated with Orthodox Jewish practice and the bimah placed in front of the Holy Ark, reflecting Conservative practice. Also visible are the side extensions of the U-shaped balcony.
Ahavath Gerim (love the strangers) was originally named Ohavi Zedek (lovers of justice). When the majority of Ohavi Zedek’s members relocated to a new synagogue building in 1952, a portion of the membership chose to remain at the old synagogue, which they renamed Ahavath Gerim. The “old” synagogue—now Ahavath Gerim—is abutted by a mortuary, underscoring its historic centrality in all phases of life for Burlington’s Jewish community. 

An online history of the congregation (ahavathgerim.blogspot.com) notes that “In 1880, the number of Lithuanian Jews who had arrived in the United States was about 5,000, and by 1882, this number had leaped to 81,000.” This suggests that Ahavath Gerim’s earliest members were Lithuanian Jews. With that said, the history continues, “The pace of emigration continued and by 1907, 260,000 Jews had emigrated, most of whom were Russian and Polish. Most Jews stayed in New York City and other large cities, but Burlington received a high number as well…As Eastern Europeans, these Jews were Orthodox in their beliefs, as well as in their preservation of the Yiddish language.” 
Beth Israel Synagogue, Stevens Point, Portage County, Wisconsin

Constructed: 1905
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Figure 13: Beth Israel Synagogue, Stevens Point, Wisconsin. 

Photo: Portage County Historical Society
Besides embodying Christian history and ideals, Gothic Revival architecture was favored for its “picturesque” qualities. Though modest, Beth Israel Synagogue at 1445 Water Street in Stevens Point, Wisconsin, is unquestionably charming (figure 13). The synagogue’s front facade is topped by a distinctive hipped-gable. Also on the front facade, two Gothic arch windows are placed side by side; their tracery lines extend upward to form another, larger Gothic arch that unifies the composition into a single large window. The pairing, proportions, and shape of this central window are echoed in the double-door main entrance, which is crowned by a Gothic arch transom. Both doors and the apex of the transom are adorned with Stars of David. The footprint of the building is thirty by fifty feet.
Beth Israel (house of Israel) was constructed in 1905 and served as a house of worship for Stevens Point’s vibrant Jewish community until 1986. The first Jewish families to settle in Stevens Point were Central European Jews who arrived in the early 1870s. As historian Marc Seiler notes in the nomination form for the NRHP that he wrote on behalf of Beth Israel, “By the turn of the century about 25 Jewish families, predominantly from Russia, had taken up residence” (Seiler 9). Seiler continues, “Beth Israel Congregation ultimately grew to as many as 40 families, primarily from Stevens Point, Marshfield, and Wisconsin Rapids, but also from Fremont, Weyauwega, Pittsville, Adams, Waupaca, Friendship, and New London” (Seiler 10).

Seiler notes:

Beth Israel was organized as an Orthodox congregation, reflecting the eastern European origins of many of its members, but in 1940, when Rabbi Curt Reach—a conservative Jew and refugee from Danzig, Germany—was hired, Beth Israel became a Conservative congregation, which it remained until its dissolution in 1986, when a minyan [the quorum of ten required for public prayer] no longer could be assembled (Seiler 10). 
The synagogue was given to the Portage County Historical Society to be used as a museum commemorating the Stevens Point Jewish community. In 2007, Temple Beth Israel was placed on the NRHP. 
In an e-mail dated June 14, 2011, Seiler cited a 1905 news article gave the following description: "The synagogue will be a frame building of Gothic architecture, the ground dimensions of which are to be 30 by 50 feet. The front will be graced with a single steeple of comparative height, bearing a large six-cornered star on the top." The steeple never was built. In another e-mail from June 14, Seiler noted that Beth Israel’s bimah was never separate from its Holy Ark. However, the synagogue did segregate the sexes during worship, with men on the left and women on the right. Like Middletown, Pennsylvania’s B’nai Jacob, Beth Israel’s Holy Ark was not a cabinet but a niche recessed into the wall. Unlike B’nai Jacob, which built a classical entablature to highlight the Ark and give it a sense of volume, the niche that was Beth Israel’s Holy Ark was built in the shape of a pointed arch (figure 14).  Hanging from the apex of the pointed niche was the synagogue’s ner tamid (eternal light), a fixture found in all synagogues.
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Figure 14: Beth Israel Synagogue. Interior view showing combined Holy Ark and bimah composition. Note that the Holy Ark is a recessed niche in the shape of a pointed arch.    Photo: Portage County Historical Society
In an e-mail dated June 11, Seiler noted that Beth Israel hired a non-Jewish architect, John Bukolt, to design the building. Of the synagogues in this survey, Beth Israel is the only one designed by an architect (or, at least, for which the name of the designing architect is known). In the same e-mail, Seiler explained that the “congregation’s leadership consisted predominantly of ‘Russian’ Jews, more specifically from the Pale, some of the towns were Kopil, Slutzk, and Minsk—all today in Belarus.” Belarus is located immediately east of present-day Lithuania and, historically, was part of the Lithuanian Jewish (or Litvak) cultural region. As noted, B’nai Jacob in Middletown was indisputably the product of Lithuanian Jews and Ahavath Gerim in Burlington is likely to have been founded by Lithuanian Jews. Beth Israel of Edenbridge, Sakatchewan (discussed next), was established by Litvaks (the Yiddish term for Lithuanian Jews). The connection between Lithuanian Jews and the dates and locations in which these Gothic-Revival synagogues were built is discussed on page 36.
Beth Israel Synagogue, Edenbridge, Willow Creek Rural Municipality, Saskatchewan, Canada

Constructed: 1906–1908
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Figure 15: Beth Israel Synaggue, Edenbridge, Saskatchewan, Canada
Among the examples in this survey, Beth Israel Synagogue in Edenbridge, Saskatchewan, represents the greatest geographic and cultural remove from the eastern seaboard of the United States; it is, in fact, in western Canada. Beth Israel was built in 1906 as part of the Edenbridge Hebrew Colony, a farming settlement. The colony was founded by Lithuanian Jews who immigrated to Canada by way of South Africa. As is characteristic of Carpenter Gothic, the synagogue is clad in white clapboard. Otherwise, however, the synagogue’s stylistic ties to the Gothic Revival or Carpenter Gothic are not as strong as others discussed in this report. Although steep, in keeping with the Gothic, its roof is gambrel in its shape (figure 16). Beth Israel’s windows are strongly vertical—reflecting Gothic sensibility—but are arched rather than pointed.
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Figure 16: Beth Israel Synagogue, Edenbridge. Multi-paned arched window.
These sash windows feature large central panes framed by small, square lights (which flare along the arch), a style associated with Queen Anne and Shingle Style architecture (with that said, Queen Anne and Shingle Style—like the Stick Style discussed in relation to the synagogue in Ocala, Florida—are chronologically and stylistically related to Carpenter Gothic). As with B’nai Jacob in Middletown, Pennsylvania, Beth Israel features an oculus window at its main gable end. Unlike B’nai Jacob, or any synagogue studied here, the building’s entryway is not on the gable end—it must, instead, be located on the lean-to on the back of the structure or on the side wall not visible in the photograph. 

While Edenbridge’s Beth Israel has a somewhat anomalous exterior, its interior is very much in keeping with its sister Orthodox synagogues examined here. It has the paired but separated bimah and Holy Ark—placed, respectively, in the center of the sanctuary and along its eastern wall—as a well as a balcony for women congregants. Absolutely distinctive to Beth Israel, however, is its wooden interior, which replicates—much more so than the other synagogues in this study—the wooden synagogues of Eastern Europe (figures 17, 18, and 19). 
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Figure 17: Beth Israel Synagogue, Edenbridge. Interior view. 
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Figure 18: A wood synagogue in Zydikiai, Lithuania
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Figure 19: Interior of a wood synagogue in Olkienniki, Lithuania
Beth Israel Synagogue, with its adjacent cemetery, were designated a Heritage Site by the Rural Municipality of Willow Creek in 2003. 

II. Context and Performance

A. Describe the circumstances of the collection, context, or individual. Where (give background)? Who (give background)? What prompted it? What was your role or relation to objects, participants, or scene? What were the material surroundings or conditions (e.g., museum, house, landscape, festival)?

B. Describe “meta-information”: Commentaries by the makers/collectors/users on the meaning and/or significance of the artifact, event/cultural scene, or life.

As discussed earlier, the examples of Gothic-Revival synagogues examined in this paper were found in Marilyn J. Chiat’s American Religious Architecture:  Sacred Places for Every Community (1997) and as a result of internet searches for “Gothic-Revival synagogues,” “Carpenter-Gothic synagogues,” and similar phrases. What I sought were Gothic-Revival synagogues built in America. The examples I found—though geographically dispersed across vast distances—share similarities that go well beyond the parameters of my search. All are rectangular; thirty to thirty-five feet wide and approximately forty to seventy feet long. Each (with the partial exception of Beth Israel Synagogue in Saskatchewan) has its main entrances on the (short) gable end. All are clad in white siding or brick; none are stone. All are made “Gothic” through the use of pointed windows and door transoms, as well as steeply pitched roofs or other manifestations of verticality. Some lack Jewish signifiers while, for the majority, Jewish signification is restrained (it must be noted that this could be evidence of cultural transmission; Eastern European synagogues had few to no Jewish signifiers on their exteriors due to governmental prohibition and pervasive and often violent ant-Semitism). Most do not employ the Gothic-Revival mode on the synagogues’ interiors, which reflect traditional Orthodox Jewish layouts. Almost all started as Orthodox synagogues with centrally placed bimahs and women’s galleries, and all made the transition to the more liberal Conservative or Reform streams of Judaism (with the exception of B’nai Abraham in Brenham, Texas, which remained Orthodox; the denominational trajectory of B’nai Israel in Edenbridge is unknown). Significantly, all are officially recognized historic sites, and are thus “collected” under that rubric. 
[REWORK] The synagogues were built—as preliminary evidence indicates—primarily by Lithuanian Jews who arrived in the early years of the mass migration of Eastern-European Jews that lasted from approximately 1880 to 1920 or by German Jews who arrived prior to the Eastern-European immigration. This is not necessarily contradicted by the building dates of the synagogues, many of which are post 1900. Per Jewish law, it is incumbent upon a Jewish community to establish a synagogue once it is large enough to form a minyan, or prayer quorum; in Orthodox practice, this quorum must consist of ten men. Jews resided in Middletown, Pennsylvania, as early as ca. 1890 if not before (Zuckerman), but not in numbers great enough to form a minyan until sometime before 1904, when B’nai Jacob was incorporated.
In Coalfield Jews: An Appalachian History (2006), Deborah R. Weiner extrapolates from her research a number of assertions regarding Jews who settled in small, inland American towns. They were more likely to come from rural areas in southern Germany and Eastern European; to have arrived in the United States before 1900; and to have a background in petty trade (15). Weiner states that “Like the German Jews before them, Eastern Europeans who journeyed beyond major cities often started as peddlers and then opened retail establishments. Their economic profile more closely resembled their German Jewish predecessors than their big city relatives” (18). Weiner states that Hungarian Jews and Lithuanian Jews dominated the early years of Eastern-European immigration (15); Lithuanian Jews figure in the history of most of the synagogues discussed in this study, while Hungarian Jews do not. This may be a problem of nomenclature exacerbated by the stateless state of Eastern European Jewry. Many Eastern-European Jews based their regional or sub-ethnic identity along lines that did not correspond with Eastern Europe’s (ever changing) national borders. For example, in Lithuanian Jewish Culture (2010), Dovid Katz explains that:

Lita—Jewish Lithuania—stretches from the Baltic Sea in the northwest (modern Lithuania and Latvia); Bialystok (now Poland) and Brisk (now Brest, Belarus) at its southwest; to somewhere near Smolensk (now in the Russian Federation) in the northeast; and, finally, defining an arc for its southern border, touching the Black Sea at a point just east of Odessa (now Ukraine) (15; see figure 20, which shows that the Lithuanian-Jewish cultural region also extended into parts of German East Prussia).
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Figure 20: The Lithuanian Jewish cultural region. Source: Dovid Katz, Lithuanian Jewish Culture, pp. 16–17. Pónevezh, the city at the center of the region from which the founding members of Middletown’s immigrated, to the immediate east of the 24° latitudinal line, approximately midway between the larger cities of Vílne (in present-day Lithuania) 

and Mitáve (in present-day Latvia).
In discussing matters of meta-information, I will return to B’nai Jacob of Middletown, Pennsylvania—the source of inspiration and touchstone for this project. B’nai Jacob had a founding membership that consisted exclusively of Lithuanian Jews. Indeed, an addendum to its nomination form for the National Register of Historic Places was submitted by Bruce Bazelon in August, 1997. In an interview with B’nai Jacob member Betty Orstein in which, Bazelon learned that “the congregation came from the town of Poucelat [Pusalotas], Kovno, Lithuania,” and that B’nai Jacob was built to resemble the synagogue in Pusalotas. Mr. Bazelon notes that “Virtually the entire Central Pennsylvania Jewish community of the 1880–1900 period came from Kovno [county] in Lithuania,” but that “this is the first time I have heard that the Middletown congregation was from one town.” The addendum concludes with Mr. Bazelon explaining that “Mrs. Orstein’s comment that the congregation in Middletown used to say ‘Poucelat in Middletown’ when referring to the synagogue should be part of its file” (Stuart 6). 
B’nai Jacob’s connection with was borne out in the congregation’s response to the destruction, by fire, of Pusalotas’ wooden synagogue in 1913. The members of B’nai Jacob sent funds that helped to make possible the construction of a new brick synagogue in Pusolotas. 
Besides its strong Lithuanian-Jewish identity, oral history and collective memories emphasize B’nai Jacob as a replication of the synagogue in their Lithuanian hometown (which evidence indicates that, for most of B’nai Jacob’s members, was Pusolotas) and the founders’ self-reliance—they built the synagogue with their own hands. 

The core of this congregational and communal sense of self is true. B’nai Jacob does reflect—in its interior—the composition of an Eastern European Orthodox Jewish synagogue. However, B’nai Jacob’s exterior was distinctly non-Jewish—and, in particular, not Lithuanian Jewish (or, in Yiddish, Litvak) in appearance (see, for example, the small wooden synagogue illustrated in figure 18). Further complicating this issue is the existence in Lithuania of brick vernacular Gothic churches that bear a familial resemblance to B’nai Jacob and other brick synagogues (see figure 21).  
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Figure 21: Saint George’s Church in Kedainiai, Lithuania, dating to the 15th century. Kedainiai is in central Lithuania, at the southern end of the region in north-central Lithuania from which B’nai Jacob’s founders immigrated.
With that said, we can feel comfortable in positing that the founders of B’nai Jacob and other synagogues in this survey were compelled, above all else, to build houses of worship that reflected their religious practices in the interior while presenting an exterior that blended seamlessly with the built landscape of small-town America—thus, the preference for Gothic Revival. Further, as Dwayne Jones commented in his NRHP registration form for B’nai Abraham in Brenham, the congregational concerns were with function rather than style (Jones 4).
B’nai Jacob’s published, written, and oral histories emphasize that the synagogue was designed and built by its members. Historic B’nai Jacob Synagogue: One Hundred Year Anniversary Celebration, a history and collection of interviews and images relating to the congregation published in 2004, includes a photograph showing the group of founders with an imposing pile of bricks secured from a local brickyard. In an interview with Jake Zuck, the son of one of the founders, he recounts that “We had a man here by the name of Mr. Philip Singer…He was really strict and…he knew the Jewish way. He sat down and he…got two boards and he made the Ten Commandments, which are still at the synagogue above the altar” (page 3 in Larry Kapenstein’s interview with Zuck; please note: this book has extremely irregular pagination). This self-reliance resonates both with the spirit of the immigrants—whose goal was to be self-employed retailers—and the do-it-yourself ethos of the Pennsylvania-German (or, colloquially, “Pennsylvania-Dutch”) region of which Middletown was a part. 
 A third element of B’nai Jacob’s sense of self as expressed in the interviews recorded in the centennial book is the centrality of the synagogue to Middletown’s Jewish community, for Middletown had no Jewish institutions other than the synagogue. Its congregants lived within walking distance of the synagogue, as traditional Jewish law forbids traveling by vehicle on the Sabbath. Moreover, for the members of B’nai Jacob, the synagogue filled the three roles of a traditional, Eastern-European shul (shul is the informal Yiddish term for synagogue, deriving from the German schule, which corresponds to the English “school”). B’nai Jacob was a beit tefilah (house of prayer), beit midrash (house of study), and beit knesset (house of meeting). Its members gathered within its walls to worship, sent their children to the shul for their Jewish education, and conducted both their official and social activities at B’nai Jacob.
On a much different note, one interview in Historic B’nai Jacob Synagogue: One Hundred Year Anniversary Celebration provides a small but telling semantic insight into the nature of assimilation and the process of accommodating the norms of rural Lithuania and those of small-town Pennsylvania. A gentleman, an elderly son of one of the founders, alternates between referring to B’nai Jacob as a shul and a church (pages 14–18 in the section headed “Interviews by Gertrude Singer Nitzberg, 10/24/75”).
III. Annotation 

A. Use standard reference sources to find comparative examples of the text, context, or behavior. For example, for architecture, consult the Encyclopedia of the Vernacular Architecture of the World, or for religious/ethnic/urban/occupational contexts, see the Encyclopedia of American Folklife, or for life stories, see a volume such as American Folk Masters by Steven Siporin about folk artists designated by the National Endowment for the Arts as national treasures.
Marilyn J. Chiat’s America’s Religious Architecture: Sacred Places for Every Community (1997) was my primary source comparative examples. Chiat examines houses of worship throughout the United States, which she divides into nine cultural and geopolitical regions, and discusses the blending of ethnic traditions with local building styles and materials. Some 500 houses of worship are profiled in this book, including three synagogues built—as was B’nai Jacob in Middletown, Pennsylvania—in a vernacular Gothic-Revival style in small towns in the decades before and after the turn of the twentieth century. America’s Religious Architecture includes entries for the high-style Gothic-Revival synagogue Mickve Israel in Savannah, the eclectic Moorish-Gothic Chizuk Amuno Synagogue in Baltimore, as well as vernacular Gothic-Revival churches built for Christian congregations circa 1900 in small, inland communities akin to Middletown. Entries include details regarding the origin, architectural features, and social history of each structure. Chiat explains that the intent of her book is “to pay tribute to historic places of worship located throughout the 50 states and to appraise them for the contribution they make and roles they play within their societies—enhancers of the built environment, cornerstones of many communities, and evidence of this nation’s ethnic and religious diversity” (4). I supplemented the information and perspectives found in Chiat’s book with wide-ranging internet searches and securing the NRHP’s nomination or registration forms for the synagogues in this study.
IV. Interpretation

A. What do scholars say about the meaning of the type or content of the text you collected or observed? Give description, sources, summary of approach (e.g., psychoanalytical, functional, structural, performance, feminist), and your evaluation of the interpretations.

B. What is your commentary on the meaning of the text, context, or behavior you collected or observed?

Although published scholarship devoted to American Jewish history is vast and multifaceted, Lee Shai Weissbach’s Jewish Life in Small-Town America: A History (2005) is the only existing comprehensive portrait of small-town Jewish life in America. Weissbach examines some 490 communities ranging in size from 100 to 1000 Jews in a timeframe beginning in the mid-nineteenth century and ending with World War II. Included in Weissbach’s study are statistics for Middletown—the Jewish community of which peaked in 1927 with 100 individuals (Weissbach 346)—and some of the other towns in this study. Weissbach argues that smaller Jewish communities were not simply miniature versions of those in larger towns and cities but were instead alternative kinds of communities in many respects. In regard to synagogues, Weissbach notes that “While other American Jewish congregations were building elaborate Moorish houses of worship, others, though perhaps no less confident of their place in the local environment, were choosing to build synagogues that more nearly resembled the churches of their Christian neighbors” (Weissbach 181). She continues by noting that “Gothic architecture, with its characteristic pointed arches, was too much associated with the medieval Catholic Church to become tremendously popular with Jewish congregations, but some Jewish groups that wished to have their houses of worship fit seamlessly with the local ecclesiastical building stock used elements of this style, nonetheless” (ibid).
Deborah R. Weiner’s Coalfield Jews: An Appalachian History explores two historic events that took place between 1880 and 1920—the coal-boom that transformed central Appalachia and the migration of some 2.5 million Jews from Eastern Europe to the United States. In Coalfield Jews, Weiner focuses on communities in southern West Virginia, eastern Kentucky, and southwestern Virginia. Like their co-religionists in Middletown, Pennsylvania, and other inland areas, Jewish immigrants to the coalfields found success as retailers and established numerous small but flourishing Jewish communities. Weiner’s explores the settlement patterns of Jews in the coal regions of Appalachia, how they made their place within a surprisingly receptive dominant culture, interacted with their non-Jewish neighbors, and maintained a strong Jewish identity deep in the heart of a region with few Jews. As stated earlier in this paper, Weiner makes a number of assertions concerning the Jews of the Appalachian coal region that are pertinent to the study of B’nai Jacob and synagogues built and sustained in similar circumstances: that Jews who settled in the small towns of the coal region were more likely to come from rural areas in Eastern European; were more likely to have arrived in the United States before 1900; were more likely to have a background in petty trade; and that “almost half of those whose origins were identified hailed from two places: Lithuania and Hungary. These immigrants also arrived in the coalfields earliest, accounting for more than half of those who came before 1900. Three factors contribute to their predominance: the overrepresentation of Lithuanians and Hungarians in the early stages of Jewish migration from Eastern Europe, the tendency of early Jewish immigrants to move away from U.S. port cities more readily than later immigrants, and the impact of chain migration” (Weiner 15). 

Samuel D. Gruber’s American Synagogues: A Century of Architecture and Jewish Community (2003) examines twentieth-century American synagogues with a particular focus on high-style structures built by well-known architects including Percival Goodman, Walter Gropius, Philip Johnson, and Frank Lloyd Wright. In this respect, Gruber’s American Synagogues might seem to offer little that resonates with the history and architecture of synagogues such as B’nai Jacob. However, Gruber devotes a chapter  to older traditions in American synagogue construction, and notes that “Although the traditional Gothic style, so popular in church architecture, was not frequently used for urban synagogues, a vernacular Gothic, practiced by local carpenters and masons, was common for small-town congregations, especially in the West from the 1840s to the 1880s” (Gruber 25). More broadly, Gruber posits and provides evidence for the important but easily overlooked truth that synagogue architecture has not only been shaped by Jewish Americans but has helped to create and form the way Jewish Americans perceive themselves and are perceived by others. 

Marc Raphael’s The Synagogue in America (2011) examines the changing architecture and role of the synagogue in the Jewish-American community over the course of three centuries. Raphael draws from the records of some 125 Jewish congregations. His documentation and analysis encompasses architecture, worship styles across the various American-Jewish movements or “streams,” the role of the rabbi, methods and goals of congregational fundraising, ongoing changes in liturgy, and the impact of feminism. 

In America’s Religious Architecture, Marilyn Chiat notes that “Many immigrants…came to view the Gothic Revival religious structures, which were so visible in ports of entry, as being appropriately ‘Christian’ while at the same time typically ‘American’…Even Jewish immigrants from Eastern Europe settling in small market towns began to adapt the Gothic style, minus one important element, the steeple” (Chiat 14). It must be noted that the immigrants’ exposure to the Gothic Revival—albeit in vernacular forms—was as strong or stronger in small towns as it was in their ports of entry.
All of these analyses provide key insights into how small-town, traditionally Orthodox American Jews came to build their modest communities’ synagogues in variations of the Gothic-Revival style. Weissbach and Weiner’s books are particularly helpful when considering the circumstances of small-town Jews—a demographic that has been largely overlooked (with the exception, perhaps, of Jews in the small towns of the American South; Southern-Jewish history and culture has been the subject of a significant amount of scholarly and popular attention). Weissbach’s observation that smaller Jewish communities were not simply miniature versions of those in larger towns and cities is central to understanding the kinds of communities that built vernacular Gothic Revival synagogues and the roles those synagogues played in the lives of their congregants. 
In Europe in the nineteenth century, on the heels of the Jewish haskalah (enlightenment) and, most significantly, the emancipation of the Jews in Central and Western Europe, a Jewish middle-class and upper-class quickly arose. Eager to establish material and communal expressions of their newfound place in society—both in terms of citizenship and in economic advances—the Jewish communities of western and central Europe began a wave of constructing so-called “cathedral” synagogues that were meant to rival grand Christian ecclesiastical edifices while not looking like churches. Although the Jews of the United States were, to a great but not complete extent, fully engaged and accepted members of society since the Colonial era, the earliest synagogues in the American colonies and the young United States were relatively modest affairs (as were the majority of churches) that looked like neighboring buildings. It could be argued that the mid-nineteenth-century arrival of the Gothic Revival on American shores preceded by just a decade the desire among Jewish-Americans—Jews of German origin, in particular—residing in large cities such as New York, Philadelphia, and Baltimore to build their own “cathedral” synagogues, expressing both the burgeoning size and rising status of their communities. Such undertakings required large Jewish populations and an abundance of wealthy benefactors. 
The Jews of America’s small towns, however, had neither the mass nor the assets of their co-religionists in the cities. It seems, then, that they pinned their hopes on the construction of synagogues that were in keeping with the appearance of local churches while filling the particular needs of a Jewish congregation. It is likely that the Gothic-Revival style held no particular appeal for small-town Jews other than its familiarity and ease of execution. It was a style that met the needs of an ethnoreligious community at a specific time and geographic point (in a broad sense of the term) in its diasporic history. As truly tiny minority populations, small-town Jewish-Americans were unlikely to build “exotic” structures such as the Moorish and Byzantine synagogues popular among Jews living in America’s cities. The desire to “blend in” was likely matched by a dearth of individuals among the congregations’ members and the local construction trades who knew how to build in such anomalous manners. In contrast, vernacular Gothic Revival and Carpenter Gothic structures were well-known among local builders and, in their most basic forms, these structures were made “Gothic” simply through the inclusion of steeply pitched rooflines and pointed windows. Such architectural features were attainable for Jewish communities that might consist of as few as a dozen families. The “Gothic-Revival” synagogues built by these small congregations were, in essence, what Robert Venturi and Denise Scott-Brown later termed “decorated sheds.” Paraphrasing Venturi and Scott-Brown, “decorated sheds” are simple, rectilinear, utilitarian structures adorned on their exteriors with symbolic or otherwise decorative elements that indicate a given building’s function and—if so desired and resources permit, evoke a sense of grandeur—while their interiors may be adapted to any composition or use. 

The steeple-less Jewish-American Gothic synagogue may not have expressed transcendence, and certainly did not promote a return to traditional Christian rituals, but it did evoke, in material form, the ideals of restraint, modesty, and honesty—qualities professed with particular fervor by America’s Christians and Jews in the Victorian era and the years following. Furthermore, although vernacular Gothic-Revival architecture was ubiquitous in America’s built landscape in the late-nineteenth and early-twentieth century, it was nearly absent from the large, communal expressions developed by America’s city-dwelling Jews at that time. Fortunate it is, then, that examples of vernacular Gothic-Revival synagogues remain standing, testifying to the experiences of individuals and communities that—while balancing overarching desires to assimilate while maintaining their Jewishness—did so in ways that differed significantly from those of more metropolitan Jews, ways in which the synagogue was typically the one and only indispensible locus for living a Jewish life among other Jews.
© Matthew F. Singer unless noted otherwise

V. Sources (must include print sources).
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